THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000511

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

AARON MCKENZIE CAPERS,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TARA DAWN SHURLING
Attorney and Counselor at Law
S. C. Bar No. 5099

3614 Landmark Drive, Suite A
Columbia, SC 29204
(803) 738-8622
(803) 738-1600 FAX
tdshurling@aol.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED

AUG 02 2023
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

The lower court abused its discretion in denying Appellant Motion for Reconsideration of sentence where the lower court abused its discretion in sentencing the Applicant to a sentence which was not consistent with the articulated intent of the judge and therefore was based upon a factual conclusion not supported by evidence in the record.

II.

The lower court abused its discretion in denying Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration of sentence where the lower court abused its discretion in sentencing the Applicant to a term of years sentence which was not consistent with the articulated intent of the sentencing judge not to give Appellant a life sentence inasmuch as the sentence imposed would result in Appellant having to serve a sentence that would exceed his life expectancy by nearly thirty (30) years before having any chance of release from the custody of the South Carolina Department of Corrections and therefore was based upon a factual conclusion not supported by evidence in the record.

III.

The lower court abused its discretion in denying Appellant Motion for Reconsideration of sentence where the lower court abused its discretion in sentencing the Applicant to a sentence which was not consistent with the articulated intent of the judge and where record below establishes that the Appellant's aggregate sentence of eighty (80) years imposed by the sentencing judge was imposed in significant part as punishment for bad acts for which he had neither been convicted, or, pleaded to and therefore were entered in violation of the trial judge's sentencing authority and as such were based upon an error of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Aaron McKenzie Capers, was indicted by the Berkeley County Grand Jury grand jury for one count of First Degree Burglary, one count of First Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct, one county of Kidnapping, one count of Armed Robbery and Possession of a Weapon During the Commission of a Violent Offense. *See, Indictments No. 2018-GS-08-00528 – 00532*. He proceeded to trial by jury on March 18 – 21, 2019. He was represented in the trial court by Sharon Capers, Esquire, and Donna McQueen, Esquire. The Appellant was tried before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, presiding circuit court judge. The State was represented at trial by Anne Williams, Assistant Solicitor, and Deputy Solicitor, Bryan Alfaro. At the conclusion of this trial, the Appellant was found guilty on all counts. He was sentenced to fifty (50) years incarceration for the First Degree Burglary count, thirty (30) years for the First Degree Criminal Sexual Conduct count, consecutive to the First Degree Burglary count, thirty (30) years concurrent for the Armed Robbery and Kidnapping counts, as well as five (5) years concurrent for the weapon count. The Appellant served and filed a timely Notice of Appeal from his judgment and sentence. Thereafter, Appellant was represented on direct appeal by undersigned counsel. Appellate Counsel subsequently filed Petition to Stay the direct appeal when it became apparent that trial counsel had filed Appellant's Notice of Appeal before post-trial motions had been heard and ruled upon by Judge Dennis. Said motion was granted and a hearing was held on Appellant's Motion to Dismiss and Motion to Reconsider sentence on January 6, 2020. At the conclusion of that hearing, the lower court agreed to hold the record open to receive a report from Dr. Donna Maddox, a forensic psychiatrist, who had been hired by the defense to evaluate Appellant.

On February 16, 2021, a second hearing was held on Appellant's Motion to Reconsider Sentence. While the record of this proceeding does not reflect that the report issued by Dr. Donna Maddox, was introduced by Defense Counsel as an Exhibit, the record of that hearing clearly evidences that it was given to the Court, had been read by Judge Dennis and was obviously taken into consideration by the sentencing judge in his ruling on the Motion to Reconsider sentence which was denied by Court. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In the case of *In re Christopher H.*, 432 S.C. 600, ___ S.E.2d ___ (S.C. Ct. App., 2021), the Court held that,

A [sentencing court] must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for a particular defendant. The sentence imposed will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the sentence imposed was based on either an error of law or a factual conclusion not supported by evidence in the record. *Citing, In re M.B.H.*, 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

ARGUMENT

Issues

I.

The lower court abused its discretion in denying Appellant Motion for Reconsideration of sentence where the lower court abused its discretion in sentencing the Applicant to a sentence which was not consistent with the articulated intent of the judge and therefore was based upon a factual conclusion not supported by evidence in the record.

II.

The lower court abused its discretion in denying Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration of Sentence where the lower court abused its discretion in sentencing the Applicant to a term of years sentence which was not consistent with the articulated intent of the sentencing judge not to give Appellant a life sentence inasmuch as the sentence imposed would result in Appellant having to serve a sentence that would

exceed his life expectancy by nearly thirty (30) years before having any chance of release from the custody of the South Carolina Department of Corrections and therefore was based upon a factual conclusion not supported by evidence in the record.

III.

The lower court abused its discretion in denying Appellant Motion for Reconsideration of sentence where the Applicant was given a sentence which was not consistent with the articulated intent of the judge and where record below establishes that the Appellant's aggregate sentence of eighty (80) years was imposed by the sentencing judge in significant part as punishment for bad acts for which he had neither been convicted, or, pleaded to, and therefore the sentences were entered in violation of the trial judge's sentencing authority and as such were based upon an error of law.

A trial, Assistant Solicitor Anne Williams stated for the record that Appellant was 16 years old at the time of the crimes for which he went to trial. **R. p. 548, lines 3-4.**¹ Appellant was considered a junior at USC at the time of this crime because he had earned an associates degree while still in high school. **R. p. 546, lines 14-20.** He had no prior convictions. **R. p. 544, lines 8-9.** At the sentencing proceeding held immediately after the verdicts in this case, the trial judge stated, I'm not going to impose a life sentence, so I don't need to have mitigation. I understand, though, it is 15 years to life, which gives me discretion. So I'm going to not impose life and give you a chance at some point in time, but I can't in good conscience to my oath do what I maybe could have done in a different setting." **R. p. 551, lines 6 – 13.** He subsequently reiterated this sentiment, stating for the record, "Mr. Capers, I'm not going to impose a life sentence. You might deserve it, but I am not going to impose it; I'm going to give you a chance." **R. p. 553, lines 1 – 6.**

¹ The Amended Initial Brief of Appellant was filed in the South Carolina Court of Appeals on **June 20, 2022**. On **September 21, 2022**, Counsel for Appellant received a digital copy of an affidavit from the Court Reporter who prepared the trial transcript in this case on. In that affidavit she acknowledged that she made a "**transcription error**" on page 793 of the trial record in which she erroneously quoted Deputy Solicitor Anne Williams as saying Appellant was 16 at the time of the crime in this case. She indicated that she had listened to her tapes and confirmed that Attorney Williams in fact said Appellant was 18 at the time the crime was committed. *See, R.p. 556, Affidavit of Court Reporter.*

Appellant asserts that as a practical matter, the lower court did give him a life sentence. The trial judge sentenced Appellant to an aggregate term of eighty (80) years incarceration for crimes which require a minimum service of 85% of the sentence imposed before he will be eligible for supervised community release or any other type of early release. As previously noted, Appellant was sixteen years old at the time of these crimes and 18 at the time he was sentenced. Eighty -five percent of eighty (80) years equals sixty-eight (68) years. Appellant was never released on bond following his arrest; therefore, with credit for jail time served, he will be eighty-four years old before being eligible for any sort of early release; including Supervised Community Release. *S.C. Code §24-13-150 (A) (2010)*.

If Judge Dennis intended to give Appellant “*a chance at some point in time*”, he was clearly factually mistaken. The statistics taken into consideration in *State v. Conrad Slocumb*, 426 S.C. 297, 827 S.E.2d. 148 (2019), support that assertion. A wealth of information concerning the life expectancy of male inmates incarcerated since the age of sixteen is found in the Amicus Curiae Brief filed in the *Slocumb* matter by the Appellate Division of SCCID, the South Carolina Public Defender’s Association, and the South Carolina Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers. The data compiled in the “*Dolan Study*” is heavily referenced in that brief and indicates that a sixteen (16) year old male incarcerated in SCDC has a life expectancy of 39.2 years and will likely die around the age of 55.2. A seventeen (17) year old male incarcerated in SCDC has a life expectancy of very slightly older at 55.3 years. *Amicus Brief, p. 6-9*. Therefore the sentence given to Appellant by Judge Dennis with the articulated intent of not giving him a life sentence, in effect did just that.²

² See, R.p. 556, Court Reporter’s affidavit confirming that the prosecutor actually stated that Appellant was 18, not 16, at the time this crime was committed.

Appellant has been locked up since age sixteen (16) and has been in SCDC since age eighteen. Applying even the race neutral findings of *the Dolan Study* to Appellant gives him a life expectancy of 55.2 years of age. With the eighty (80) year sentence imposed by the lower court, Appellant will not be eligible for release until he has served 85% of that term of years; 68 years. *S.C.Code §24-13-150(A)(2010)*. Combining his age at the time he was arrested, 16 years old,³ with the time he must serve before he is eligible for any type of early release, results in an expected release date of eighty-four years of age; 28.8 years longer than his projected life expectancy under the Court under *the Dolan Study*. It is impossible to understand how that outcome accomplishes the lower court's express desire to impose a sentence that gives Appellant, "a chance at some point in time."

Furthermore, Appellant most respectfully asserts that the remarks made during the second hearing on Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration, held on February 16, 2021, strongly suggest that the Court took into consideration Appellant's alleged attempt to procure the murder of the Victim in his case. During the second hearing, Judge Dennis made the following statement after Defense Counsel's pleas for reconsideration and mercy.

And I would agree with you to a degree, Ms. Capers, if it stopped with the rape [oral sex], but it didn't. It continued, continued going with the use of the card. But where the real continuation came was with the solicitation that took place. And that evidence was overwhelming to me and it was incredible and it gave me grave concern. And, frankly, warranted the punishment. I may have given him less time, total time, but the maximum for the Victim, that was – and for the kidnapping, I understand the consecutive aspect of it, it just—I think the sentence is appropriate for the crime that was committed and the actions taken thereafter. And I can't remove that from my head, that's what it is. I think there was overwhelming evidence to support the verdict.
R.p.639, lines, 2-15.

³ See, R.p. 556, for Court Reporter's affidavit confirming that the prosecutor actually stated that Appellant was 18, not 16, at the time this crime was committed.

Appellant respectfully submits that the lower court abused its discretion in denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider sentence where the sentence imposed was not consistent with the sentencing intent articulated by the sentencing judge and where the record below illustrates that the trial judge exceeded his sentencing authority by effectively sentencing Appellant for a crime for which he had not been convicted or pleaded guilty to.

CONCLUSION

For all the reasons set forth above, Appellant asks that his sentence be reversed and his case be remanded to the Court of General Sessions for a new sentencing proceeding. In the alternative, Appellant requests a new trial.