RECEIVED

Jun 27 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County
Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2019-000511

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

AARON McKENZIE CAPERS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
OT Wallace Building
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Appellant’s appellate challenge to the trial judge’s decision not to reconsider the aggregate eighty-year sentence imposed was not properly preserved for appellate review because the arguments Appellant is now raising on appeal were neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial judge. Furthermore, notwithstanding any issue preservation concerns, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion or otherwise err by virtue of his sentencing decisions in Appellant’s case because the aggregate sentence imposed fell within the permissible statutory sentencing limits for Appellant’s exceedingly-serious crimes and nothing appearing in the record established it was imposed as the result of any partiality, prejudice, corrupt motive, or improper considerations.

Appellant contends reversal is warranted in his case because the trial judge supposedly abused his discretion by refusing to reconsider the aggregate eighty-year sentence imposed. As support for that contention, Appellant, who repeatedly and inaccurately states on appeal he was just sixteen years old at the time of his offenses, maintains the reconsideration motion should have been granted because: (1) the trial judge indicated he was not going to impose a life sentence but ended up imposing a term-of-years sentence that was the functional equivalent of one; and (2) the trial judge allegedly “exceeded his sentencing authority” when deciding upon Appellant’s sentence by considering the fact Appellant attempted to hire someone to murder his elderly victim after he was arrested. Initially, to the extent Appellant maintains on appeal the trial judge purportedly erred by imposing—and then declining to reconsider—a sentence either inconsistent with his stated intent or based on inappropriate sentencing considerations, neither of those arguments was properly preserved for appellate review because they were not raised to or ruled upon by the trial judge. As a result, Appellant’s current appellate arguments cannot properly be considered or addressed for the first time on appeal. However, even if our state’s issue preservation requirements could somehow be ignored in Appellant’s case, the trial judge did not abuse his broad sentencing discretion by imposing an aggregate eighty-year sentence for Appellant’s appalling crimes because that sentence fell well within the permissible sentencing

limits for Appellant's offenses. Beyond that, nothing was presented during the circuit court proceedings suggesting the aggregate sentence imposed resulted from any partiality, prejudice, oppression, corrupt motive, or any other improper sentencing considerations. Under such circumstances, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by sentencing Appellant to a statutorily-authorized eighty-year term of imprisonment for Appellant's many highly-serious and disturbing crimes, and there is no proper basis upon which Appellant's aggregate sentence could be disturbed on appeal. Appellant's convictions and aggregate sentence should be affirmed.

A. Appellant's Current Appellate Arguments Were Not Properly Preserved for Appellate Review

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). The key purpose of those requirements is "to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review." Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). Significantly, the application of issue preservation requirements ensures the trial court has an opportunity "to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and *arguments*." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (emphasis added); cf. Unemployment Compensation Comm'n of Alaska v. Aragan, 329 U.S. 143, 155 (1946) ("A reviewing court usurps the agency's function when it sets aside the administrative determination upon a ground not theretofore presented and deprives the Commission of an opportunity to consider the matter, make its ruling, and state the reasons for its action.").

For an issue to be preserved for appellate review pursuant to our issue preservation requirements, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge; (2) raised

by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial judge with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004). If an issue—including a constitutional one—is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial judge, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005); see In re Care and Treatment of Corley, 365 S.C. 252, 258, 616 S.E.2d 441, 444 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Constitutional issues, like most others, must be raised to and ruled on by the trial court to be preserved for appeal.”). Critically, on appeal, an appellant is limited solely to the grounds raised at trial. State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997); see State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”).

Moreover, in the context of sentencing issues, a criminal defendant is required to contemporaneously object to an alleged sentencing error during trial in order to preserve an issue with a sentence for appellate review. State v. Salisbury, 330 S.C. 250, 276, 498 S.E.2d 655, 669 (Ct. App. 1998); see State v. Johnston, 333 S.C. 459, 462, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1999) (“[A] challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review.”). Importantly, an appellant’s failure to timely object to or seek modification of a sentence in the trial court precludes him from pursuing the issue on appeal. State v. Winestock, 271 S.C. 473, 475, 248 S.E.2d 307, 308 (1978); see State v. Garner, 304 S.C. 220, 222, 403 S.E.2d 631, 632 (1991) (“No objection to sentencing was raised at trial and this issue is not properly before the court.”); State v. Shumate, 276 S.C. 46, 47, 275 S.E.2d 288, 288 (1981) (“A defendant’s failure to timely object to or seek modification of his sentence in the trial court precludes him from presenting his objection for the first time on appeal. Appellant’s contention was not advanced at the probation revocation hearing where the results were most favorable to

him. By failing to object to or seek modification of the revocation sentence in the trial court he is now foreclosed from doing so on appeal.” (citations omitted)).

In the case sub judice, Appellant has raised several arguments on appeal as to why the trial judge supposedly abused his discretion by refusing to reconsider the aggregate eighty-year sentence imposed. More specifically, Appellant alleges the trial judge reversibly erred in connection to the sentence imposed because he purportedly: (1) imposed a sentence inconsistent with his expressed sentencing intent and, thus, somehow imposed a sentence that was based upon a “factual conclusion” unsupported by the evidence; and (2) “exceeded his sentencing authority” by giving consideration to Appellant’s shocking actions after his arrest when deciding upon the appropriate sentence and, therefore, somehow “effectively” sentenced him for a crime for which he had not yet been convicted. Importantly though, defense counsel did *not* raise either of those arguments to the trial judge at any point in time, including before or after the sentence was imposed during the trial proceedings, through the post-trial motion seeking reconsideration of the sentence, or during either of the *two* hearings held on that post-trial motion. Instead, defense counsel merely raised a vague claim Appellant’s sentence was “excessive” due to his age and lack of a prior record through the post-trial motion before urging the trial judge during the ensuing hearings on that motion to reconsider the sentence imposed for several reasons, including reasons related to Appellant’s *post-arrest and post-conviction* actions that purportedly reflected favorably on his rehabilitative potential. Meanwhile, defense counsel—despite noting to the trial judge Appellant’s aggregate sentence would ultimately amount to a life sentence when making her request for leniency—never suggested to the trial judge he actually abused his discretion or factually erred due to the aggregate sentence’s potential to keep Appellant imprisoned for the remainder of his life, and defense counsel likewise—despite herself

referencing Appellant’s involvement in the murder-for-hire plot during sentencing discussions—never suggested to the trial judge he should not or could not properly consider the fact Appellant attempted to arrange for Victim’s murder while incarcerated as part of his sentencing considerations.

Because defense counsel did not raise any of the arguments Appellant is now attempting to raise on appeal and, instead, directly sought for the trial judge to give sentencing consideration to Appellant’s actions subsequent to the incident date, the trial judge was wholly denied an opportunity to consider, address, or rule upon those arguments—including the current one suggesting it was improper for the trial judge to consider Appellant’s post-arrest attempt to have his victim killed before she could testify about what he did to her—both at the time he imposed Appellant’s aggregate eighty-year sentence and when he was entertaining Appellant’s post-trial motion seeking reconsideration of it. See Queen’s Grant, 368 S.C. at 372-373, 628 S.E.2d at 919 (“Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” (citations omitted)); cf. New Hampshire v. Maine, 532 U.S. 742, 749 (2001) (explaining a party generally cannot properly take a position at one stage of the proceedings and then take a contrary position at a later stage of the same proceedings). Critically, without first giving the trial judge an opportunity to address the various now-asserted claims of error regarding the sentence imposed, Appellant is legally precluded from raising those claims for the first time on appeal. See I’On, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724 (“The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred.”); cf. State v. McCray, 222 S.C. 391, 394, 73 S.E.2d 1, 2 (1952) (finding McCray’s

appellate contention the sentence imposed was “cruel and excessive” was unavailable to him on appeal because that particular contention was not raised to the circuit court judge).

As a result, Appellant’s appellate arguments challenging the trial judge’s sentencing decisions were not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot appropriately be considered or addressed now on appeal. See Johnston, 333 S.C. at 462, 510 S.E.2d at 425 (“[A] challenge to sentencing must be raised at trial, or the issue will not be preserved for appellate review.”); State v. Walker, 252 S.C. 325, 327-328, 166 S.E.2d 209, 210 (1969) (declining to address Walker’s appellate contention the sentence he received could not have properly been imposed “on the elementary ground that the question was not raised below”); cf. State v. Gulledge, 321 S.C. 399, 404-405, 468 S.E.2d 665, 669 (Ct. App. 1996) (“Gulledge . . . argues the State did not prove she had the resources to pay \$210,000.00 in restitution and the trial court failed to state its findings and the underlying facts and circumstances of them. Because this argument was neither raised to nor addressed by the trial court, we need not deal with it.” (citation omitted)). Appellant’s convictions and aggregate sentence should be affirmed.

B. The Trial Judge Did Not in Any Way Abuse His Broad Discretion or Otherwise Err by Sentencing Appellant to an Aggregate Eighty-Year Sentence for His Heinous Crimes

In South Carolina, trial judges are vested with broad discretion to impose a sentence falling within the statutory limits upon an offender convicted of a crime. Sidell, 262 S.C. at 398, 205 S.E.2d at 3. In exercising that broad sentencing authority, the trial judge must be accorded “very wide” discretion to determine the appropriate sentence and can properly consider “*any and all information* that reasonably might bear upon the proper sentence for the particular defendant, given the crime committed.” State v. Hicks, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008) (emphasis added). Furthermore, the trial judge is fully permitted to consider one or more of a variety of legitimate penological justifications—including retribution, incapacitation,

deterrence, and rehabilitation—in deciding what sentence is appropriate under the circumstances. See Ewing v. California, 538 U.S. 11, 25 (2003) (plurality opinion) (instructing “[a] sentence can have a variety of justifications, such as incapacitation, deterrence, retribution, or rehabilitation[,]” and explaining there is no constitutional mandate requiring adoption of any one penological theory); Jones v. United States, 463 U.S. 354, 368-369 (1983) (“A particular sentence of incarceration is chosen to reflect society’s view of the proper response to commission of a particular criminal offense, based on a variety of considerations such as retribution, deterrence, and rehabilitation.”). So long as the sentence imposed falls within the permissible sentencing limits for an offender’s crime, the trial judge’s decision regarding the appropriate sentence will not be found to be improper *unless* it violated the constitutional prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment or resulted from partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive.³ See Wood v. State, 257 S.C. 179, 182, 184 S.E.2d 702, 703 (1971) (“It is well settled in this State that this Court has no jurisdiction to disturb, because of alleged excessiveness, a sentence which is within the limits prescribed by statute unless: (a) the statute itself violates the constitutional injunction . . . against cruel and unusual punishment, or (b) the sentence is the result of partiality, prejudice or pressure or corrupt motive.”).

In the case sub judice, Appellant was convicted of *five* separate and distinct criminal offenses—including first-degree burglary, first-degree criminal sexual conduct, kidnapping, and armed robbery—stemming from the appalling incident. Notwithstanding the inherently grave nature of those offenses, four of Appellant’s five heinous crimes have been statutorily classified by our legislature as “violent” and “most serious” in South Carolina. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-1-60 (identifying first-degree burglary, first-degree criminal sexual conduct, armed robbery, and

³ On appeal, Appellant has *not* attempted to raise a contention his aggregate sentence constituted cruel and unusual punishment. (App. Br. pp. 1-10).

kidnapping as “violent” crimes); S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(C)(1) (classifying first-degree burglary, first-degree criminal sexual conduct, armed robbery, and kidnapping as “most serious” offenses); see also State v. Johnson, 350 S.C. 543, 547, 567 S.E.2d 486, 488 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[F]ew would argue that *first-degree burglary*, *armed robbery*, and *kidnapping* are anything other than grave offenses of the ‘most serious’ nature.” (emphasis added)). Meanwhile, as a result of Appellant’s conviction for first-degree burglary, the trial judge—based on the applicable sentencing limits—was required to sentence Appellant to a term of imprisonment of no less than fifteen years up to *life without parole* for that offense *alone*. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311(B) (stating first-degree burglary is “punishable by life imprisonment,” explaining life imprisonment means “until death,” and further indicating a sentencing judge may discretionarily impose a sentence of not less than fifteen years). Beyond that, the trial judge was statutorily required to sentence Appellant to at least ten years of imprisonment for his remaining offenses and was permitted to sentence him to up to ninety-five years of imprisonment for those crimes in addition to the sentence imposed for first-degree burglary. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-652(2) (mandating a person convicting of first-degree criminal sexual conduct must be imprisoned for “not more than thirty years”); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910 (mandating a person convicting of kidnapping “must be imprisoned for a period not to exceed thirty years”); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330(A) (mandating a person convicted of armed robbery “must be imprisoned for a mandatory minimum term of not less than ten years or more than thirty years, no part of which may be suspended or probation granted”); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490(A) (mandating a person convicted of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime “must be imprisoned five years” unless death or life without parole was imposed for the violent crime). Thus, based on his commission of a shocking home invasion that culminated in the robbery and

rape of an eighty-one-year-old woman, Appellant was facing a sentence of no less than a non-suspendible fifteen-year term of imprisonment up to a sentence of life without parole *plus* an additional ninety years of imprisonment for his convictions. See State v. Barton, 325 S.C. 522, 531, 481 S.E.2d 439, 444 (Ct. App. 1997) (“[W]hether multiple sentences should run consecutively or concurrently is a matter left to the sound discretion of the trial judge.”); see also State v. Jacobs, 393 S.C. 584, 589, 713 S.E.2d 621, 624 (2011) (holding a sentence for first-degree burglary cannot be suspended).

Despite having the discretionary authority to sentence Appellant to life without parole *plus* a consecutive term of imprisonment of just short of a century, the trial judge—mercifully for Appellant—elected not to impose such a sentence. Instead, the trial judge imposed an aggregate term-of-years sentence that: (1) did not unyielding require Appellant to be incarcerated until his death as would have been true if he was sentenced to an actual life without parole sentence; and (2) fell well within the permissible sentencing limits for Appellant’s numerous grave crimes. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311(B) (“For purposes of [the first-degree burglary statute], ‘life’ means until death.”). And, in doing so, the trial judge did not say or do anything suggesting that aggregate sentence was imposed as the result of any improper partiality, prejudice, or oppressive or corrupt motive on his part, including by giving consideration to the information establishing Appellant continued his criminal behavior even after he was arrested by trying to have his elderly victim snuffed out. See State v. Fleming, 228 S.C. 129, 133-134, 89 S.E.2d 104, 106 (1955) (“In this question, appellants complain of the sentence in that their accomplice received a sentence of 18 months while they received a sentence of 10 years. This Court has no jurisdiction on appeal to correct a sentence alleged to be excessive when it is within the limits prescribed by law in the discretion of the trial Judge and is not the result of partiality, prejudice, oppressive or

corrupt motive.”); People v. Gramo, 623 N.E.2d 926, 935 (Ill. App. Ct. 1993) (instructing harsh sentencing ought to be imposed upon a defendant who preys upon an elderly victim); cf. Franklin, 267 S.C. at 246, 226 S.E.2d at 898 (rejecting a contention the sentencing judge erred by “considering charges against [Franklin] which had not been disposed” when imposing the sentence while emphasizing “a judge may appropriately conduct an inquiry broad in scope, largely unlimited either as to the kind of information he may consider or the source from which it may come”). Under such circumstances, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion or otherwise err in connection to Appellant’s sentence, and there is simply no proper basis upon which the trial judge’s discretionary sentencing decisions in Appellant’s case could be disturbed on appeal. See State v. Bass, 242 S.C. 193, 197, 130 S.E.2d 481, 483-484 (1963) (“This Court has no jurisdiction to correct a sentence alleged to be excessive when it is within the limits prescribed by law.”).

In arguing to the contrary, Appellant first maintains the aggregate term-of-years sentence imposed was inconsistent with the trial judge’s expressed sentencing intent because the trial judge indicated he was not going to impose a life sentence but nevertheless effectively did so “as a practical manner” based on the length of the term-of-years sentence imposed coupled with Appellant’s purported remaining life expectancy as reflected in a particular study.⁴ Importantly

⁴ On appeal, Appellant’s arguments concerning his alleged remaining life expectancy are premised on the contents of a report that he states was presented to the South Carolina Supreme Court in an *unrelated* original jurisdiction case as opposed to the trial judge in his case. (App. Br. pp. 8-9). Significantly, since the report Appellant now seeks to rely upon was not presented to—and, thus, obviously not considered by—the trial judge when addressing Appellant’s sentence, it cannot appropriately be considered as a basis for reversing the trial judge’s sentencing decisions on appeal. See Rule 210, SCACR (“[T]he appellate court will not consider any fact which does not appear in the Record on Appeal.”); see also S.C. State Highway Dep’t v. Meredith, 241 S.C. 306, 311, 128 S.E.2d 179, 182 (1962) (“[C]ounsel is prohibited from embodying in their briefs any fact which does not appear in the record.”); Mullis v. Celanese

though, the trial judge expressly explained his decision to impose an aggregate eighty-year term of imprisonment upon Appellant was “intentional” due to the heinous nature of Appellant’s many crimes and then later confirmed he understood Appellant would be elderly before he would have any possibility of obtaining release, which were statements that could leave no legitimate doubt as to whether he actually intended to impose the sentence he imposed. Meanwhile, although Appellant contends his term-of-year sentence may wind up having the same practical effect as a life without parole sentence, the trial judge did *not* sentence Appellant to a true life without parole sentence that would bar him from any opportunity for obtaining release prior to his death and, instead, imposed a lengthy term of years that ensured Appellant would not be released back into society for many decades but could theoretically obtain release if he reached a sufficiently advanced age.⁵ Therefore, when viewed in the proper context and in light of the trial judge’s own express statements confirming the *intentional* nature of the manner in which he structured Appellant’s sentence, the trial judge’s decision to impose—and then decline to reconsider—the aggregate eighty-year sentence was *not* inconsistent with his decision not to impose a life sentence upon Appellant since the sentence imposed was not an actual life without parole sentence and, thus, does not preclude Appellant from being released before his death if he

Corp. of Am., 234 S.C. 380, 393, 108 S.E.2d 547, 553 (1959) (explaining matter not before the trial judge is “not entitled to consideration on appeal”).

⁵ Due to the nature of Appellant’s crimes, Appellant will necessarily be required to serve at least eighty-five percent—or sixty-eight years—of his aggregate eighty-year sentence before he will be eligible for any form of release. See S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-150 (stating offenders convicted of “no parole” offenses must serve at least eighty-five percent of their sentences before being eligible for release). Therefore, based on his age and remaining sentence, Appellant will be approximately eighty-six years old before he will have any chance at release from custody. Id. Meanwhile, according to data compiled by the Social Security Administration, a male citizen born on Appellant’s birthdate would be expected to live until reaching an age of between eighty-one years old and nearly eighty-eight years old. S.S.A. Life Expectancy Calculator, <https://www.ssa.gov/planners/lifeexpectancy.htm>.

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